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On behalf of your board we are pleased to report another successful year at LabTech Systems. The past twelve months 
has seen the company complete all its major goals for 2008/09, most importantly bringing the MicroStreak® technology 
to market with its commercial partner, bioMérieux. The company is proud that it was able to take its first product to 
market in such a short time from the concept for the basic technology and vision for the product.

The second half of 2008 was spent finalising numerous pre-launch activities to prepare the path to market for the 
PREVI™ Isola system that incorporates MicroStreak®. bioMérieux was able to successfully launch PREVI™ Isola into the 
global in vitro diagnostics market in a year full of financial turmoil.

LabTech Systems earned a further milestone payment of 1 Million Euros (AU$1.78 Million) from bioMérieux on the 
delivery of the first pilot production units.

PREVI™ Isola performs the core task of agar plate streaking with superior results over traditional methods and has 
the capacity to offer significant time, space and cost savings to laboratory operators. In the current trend of laboratory 
consolidation, there is strong demand for automation that can standardise processes and provide traceability, 
timesaving and optimised workflow, as well as improved safety. As the first plate streaker of its kind on the market we 
believe PREVI™ Isola has a very promising future. 

The licence agreement with bioMérieux allows LabTech Systems to commercialise MicroStreak® for other applications.

The Company will pursue its growth strategy by identifying further areas of unmet need within the pathology laboratory 
sector, including but not limited to clinical microbiology. Market research is being undertaken to review the Company’s 
strategic direction and to explore a new technology and product pipeline. 

Now that our world-leading MicroStreak® technology has entered the international pathology market, we look forward 
to the coming year and new developments with our product pipeline. The next 18 months will be the key period in the 
determination of the acceptance of the technology into clinical laboratories around the world. Initial reports from users 
are very favourable and PREVI™ Isola is now available in most parts of the world. We expect that the use of PREVI™ 
Isola will increase and continue to impress laboratory technicians across the globe. 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank you, our shareholders, for all your support.

Yours sincerely,

Bob Finder Lusia Guthrie
Chairman Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Dated at Adelaide this 28th day of September 2009

Chairman’s and Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director’s Letter to Shareholders
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The board has implemented policies 
and practices to comply with the 
ASX Corporate Governance Council 
principles and recommendations, 
except where otherwise identified in 
this statement. 

The Board of Directors
The board is responsible for the 
governance of the company and 
guides and monitors the business 
and affairs of LabTech Systems on 
behalf of the shareholders to whom 
it is accountable. To ensure the 
board is well equipped to discharge 
its responsibilities it has established 
governance policies and practices 
for its own operations.

Board Composition
The board has adopted the following 
principles in respect of board 
composition:
•	 the	board	is	to	be	comprised	of	

non-executive directors with the 
exception of the Chief Executive  
Officer and Managing Director. 
Non-executive directors bring a 
wider perspective to the board’s  
consideration of strategic, risk and 
performance matters and are best 
placed to exercise independent  
judgement and review and 
constructively challenge the 
performance of management

•	 in	recognition	of	the	importance	
of independent views the 
Chairman must be an independent 
non-executive director and all 
directors are required to bring 
independent judgement to bear in 
their board decision-making 

•	 the	Chairman	is	elected	by	the	
full board and is required to meet 
regularly with the Chief Executive  
Officer and Managing Director

•	 the	company	is	to	maintain	a	
mix of directors on the board 
from different backgrounds 
with complementary skills and 
experience

•	 directors	are	not	required	to	hold	
shares in the company but are 
encouraged to do so

•	 the	board	is	required	to	undertake	
an annual board performance 
review and consider the 
appropriate mix of skills required 
by the board to maximise its 
effectiveness.

Directors’ Independence
The board has adopted specific 
principles in relation to directors’ 
independence. These state that to 
be deemed independent for the 
purposes of service on the board and 
the board committees, a director 
must, in the opinion of the board, 
be a non-executive director who is 
not a member of management and 
who is free of any business or other 
relationship that could materially 
interfere with – or could reasonably 
be perceived to materially interfere 
with – the independent exercise of 
their judgment.
In judging whether a director is 
independent, the board will have 
regard to whether the director:
•	 is	a	substantial	shareholder	of	

the company or an officer of, or 
otherwise associated directly with, 
a substantial shareholder of the 
company

•	 has	within	the	last	three	years	
been employed in an executive 
capacity by the company

•	 has	within	the	last	three	years	
been a principal of a material 
professional advisor or a material 
consultant to the company, or an 
employee materially associated 
with the service provided

•	 is	a	material	supplier	or	customer	
of the company, or an officer of or 
otherwise associated directly or 
indirectly with a material supplier 
or customer

•	 has	a	material	contractual	
relationship with the company 
other than as a director of the 
company

•	 has	been	on	the	board	for	a	period	
which could, or could reasonably 
be perceived to, materially 
interfere with the director’s ability 
to act in the best interests of the 
company

Materiality for these purposes is determined on both quantitative and 
qualitative bases. An amount of over 5% of annual turnover of the company 
or relevant supplier or customer is considered material for these purposes. 
In addition, a transaction of any amount or a relationship is deemed 
material if knowledge of it impacts the shareholders’ understanding of the 
director’s performance.

The board considers the following directors to be independent directors: 
R A Finder, C M Costello, and S P Mathwin. Mr LeMessurier and Mrs Guthrie 
are not considered independent directors as 1) Mr LeMessurier has 
directly and/or indirectly control of more than 5% of the issued capital 
of the company, and 2) Mrs Guthrie is employed by the company in an 
executive capacity.

Board Members
Details of the members of the board, their experience, expertise, 
qualifications, term of office and independent status are set out in the 
Directors’ Report under the heading Information on Directors. There are 
three independent non-executive directors, one non-executive and one 
executive director at the date of signing the Directors’ Report.

In addition the board seeks to the ensure that:
•	 at	any	point	in	time,	its	membership	represents	an	appropriate	balance	

between directors with experience and knowledge of the company and 
directors with an external or fresh perspective and the ability to add value 
to the board’s deliberations on current and emerging issues

•	 the	size	of	the	board	is	conducive	to	effective	discussion	and	efficient	
decision making.

Meetings of Non-executive Directors
The board has adopted a practice where non-executive directors meet during 
the year, in a scheduled session without the presence of management, to 
discuss the operation of the board and a range of other matters. Relevant 
matters arising from these meetings are shared with the full board.

Term of Office
The company’s Constitution specifies that one third of all directors (with the 
exception of the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director) must retire 
from office at each Annual General Meeting (AGM). Where eligible, a director 
may stand for re-election subject to the limitation that on attaining the age of 
72 years the director will retire, by agreement, at the next AGM and will not 
seek re-election.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
The Chairman is responsible for leading the board, ensuring that board 
activities are organised and efficiently conducted and for ensuring directors 
are properly briefed for meetings. The Chief Executive Officer and Managing 
Director is responsible for implementing company strategies and policies.

Corporate Governance
Statement

Commitments
The board normally holds at least 
eleven scheduled board meetings 
and an additional corporate strategy 
workshop during the year. Additional 
board meetings are held at short 
notice if required to consider 
urgent matters.

Non-executive directors are 
expected to spend at least twenty 
days a year preparing for and 
attending board and committee 
meetings and associated activities.

The number of meetings of the 
company’s board of directors and of 
each board committee held during 
the year ended 30 June 2009, and 
the number of meetings attended by 
each director is disclosed on page 23.

It is the company’s practice to 
allow the Chief Executive Officer 
and Managing Director to accept 
appointments outside the company 
with prior written approval of the 
board. The Chief Executive Officer 
and Managing Director continues 
as a director of Oncaidia Ltd. During 
the year Mrs Guthrie accepted an 
appointment as a member of the 
Future Manufacturing Industry 
Innovation Council (FMIIC) for the 
Department of Innovation, Canberra.

The commitments of non-executive 
directors are reviewed each 
year as part of the annual 
performance assessment.

Prior to appointment or being 
submitted for re-election each 
non-executive director is required to 
acknowledge that they have and will 
continue to have the time available 
to discharge their responsibilities to 
the company.
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Conflict of Interest
Directors are expected to inform the 
board of any potential conflicts of 
interest and manage those conflicts 
according to the company’s Code 
of Conduct.

Independent Professional 
Advice
Directors and board committees 
have the right, in connection with 
their duties and responsibilities, 
to seek independent professional 
advice at the company’s expense. 
Prior written approval of the 
Chairman is required, but this will 
not be unreasonably withheld.

Board Committees
The board has established two 
committees to assist in the 
execution of its duties and to allow 
detailed consideration of complex 
issues. These committees are the 
Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee and the Audit 
Committee. Both committees are 
comprised entirely of non-executive 
directors. The committee structure 
and membership is reviewed on an 
annual basis.

Each committee has its own 
written charter setting out 
its role and responsibilities, 
composition, structure, membership 
requirements and the manner 
in which the committee is to 
operate. These charters are 
reviewed on an annual basis. 
All matters determined by 
committees are submitted to the 
full board as recommendations for 
board decision.

Minutes of committee meetings 
are tabled as soon as practicable 
at subsequent board meetings. 
Additional requirements for specific 
reporting by the committees to the 
board are addressed in the charter 
of the individual committees.

Ethical Standards 
The board acknowledges and 
emphasises the importance 
of all directors and employees 
maintaining the highest standards of 
corporate governance practice and 
ethical conduct. 
A Code of Conduct has been 
established requiring directors and 
employees to:
•	 act	honestly	and	in	good	faith

•	 exercise	due	care	and	diligence	in	
fulfilling the functions of office

•	 avoid	conflicts	and	make	full	
disclosure of any possible conflict 
of interest

•	 comply	with	the	law

•	 encourage	the	reporting	and	
investigating of unlawful and 
unethical behaviour and

•	 comply	with	the	share	trading	
policy outlined in the Code of 
Conduct.

It is the responsibility of the 
Chairman and the Chief Executive 
Officer and Managing Director to 
monitor compliance by company 
officers and employees with the 
Code of Conduct.

Directors are obliged to be 
independent in judgment and ensure 
all reasonable steps are taken to 
ensure due care is taken by the 
board in making sound decisions.

Trading Policy
Under the company’s Trading 
Policy, the purchase and sale of 
company securities by directors 
and employees is only permitted in 
defined trading windows following 
the release of the half-yearly and 
annual financial results to the 
market once adequate time has 
been given for this to be reflected in 
the security’s price. The policy also 
restricts directors and employees 
from acting on other material 
information until it has been 
released to the market.

The Code of Conduct and the 
company’s trading policy are 
provided to each new employee as 
part of their induction training and 
all employees are required to comply 
with them.

Audit Committee
The current members of the Audit 
Committee are as follows:
•	C	M	Costello	(Chairman)

•	 S	Mathwin	(Independent	
Non-executive Director)

Details of the directors’ 
qualifications, expertise, experience 
and attendance at audit committee 
meetings are set out in the 
Directors’ Report.

The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee does not have specific 
qualifications in accounting or 
finance. Nonetheless, the board is 
satisfied that the Audit Committee 
has appropriate financial expertise 
and that members have a working 
knowledge of the finances of the 
company. Mrs Costello has chaired 
the board of various companies and 
audit committees.

The Audit Committee operates in accordance with a charter. The main 
responsibilities of the committee are to:

•	 review,	assess	and	approve	the	annual	report,	the	half-year	financial	report	
and all other financial information published by the company or released to 
the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX)

•	 assist	the	board	in	reviewing	the	effectiveness	of	the	company’s	internal	
control environment

•	 ensure	reliability	of	financial	reporting

•	 oversee	effectiveness	and	efficiency	of	operations

•	 comply	with	applicable	laws	and	regulations

•	 recommend	to	the	board	the	appointment,	removal	and	remuneration	of	
the external auditor, and review the terms of their engagement, the scope 
and quality of the audit and assess their performance

•	 consider	the	independence	and	competence	of	the	external	auditor	on	an	
ongoing basis

•	 review	and	approve	the	level	of	non-audit	services	provided	by	the	external	
auditor and ensure it does not adversely impact on auditor independence

•	 review	and	monitor	related	party	transactions	and	assess	their	propriety

•	 report	to	the	board	on	matters	relevant	to	the	committee’s	role	and	
responsibilities.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit Committee:

•	 receives	regular	reports	from	management	and	the	external	auditor

•	meets	with	the	external	auditor	at	least	twice	a	year	or	more	frequently	if	
necessary

•	 requires	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Managing	Director	and	Chief	
Financial Officer to state in writing to the board that the company’s 
financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, 
of the company’s financial condition, operational results and are in 
accordance with relevant accounting standards

•	 reviews	any	significant	disagreements	between	the	external	auditor	and	
management, irrespective of whether they have been resolved

•	meets	separately	with	the	external	auditor	at	least	once	a	year	without	the	
presence of management

•	 provides	the	external	auditor	with	a	clear	line	of	direct	communication	
at any time to either the Chairman of the committee or the Chairman of 
the board.

The Audit Committee has authority, within the scope of its responsibilities, to 
seek any information it requires from any employee or external party.

ASX Corporate Governance Principle and Recommendation 4.2 requires 
that the committee should have at least three members. The company has 
not	complied	with	this	requirement	due	to	the	size	of	the	company	and	the	
existing board, the directors consider that two directors are sufficient. 
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Performance Evaluation
The board has adopted a policy to 
review its own performance and 
that of the committees, annually. 
An annual performance evaluation 
of the board was conducted for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2009. 
The Chairman also speaks to each 
director individually regarding their 
role as director. The results from 
the reviews have been developed 
into a series of action items to 
improve performance. 

Board Roles and 
Responsibilities
The board is first and foremost 
accountable to provide value to its 
shareholders.
The responsibilities of the board 
include:
•	 contributing	to	the	development	

of and approving the corporate 
strategy

•	 reviewing	and	approving	the	
business plan, the annual budget 
and financial plans including 
available resources and major 
capital expenditure initiatives

overseeing and monitoring:
- organisational performance 

and the achievement of the 
company’s strategic goals and 
objectives

- compliance with the company’s 
Code of Conduct

- progress of significant corporate 
projects

- financial performance including 
approval of the annual and 
half-year financial reports and 
liaison with the company’s 
external auditors

Corporate Governance
Statement

- appointment, performance 
assessment and, if necessary, 
removal of the Chief Executive 
Officer and Managing Director

- ratification of the appointment 
and/or removal and contribution 
to the performance assessment 
of the Chief Financial Officer, 
the Company Secretary and 
other executives reporting 
directly to the Chief Executive 
Officer and Managing Director

- that risks facing the company 
have been identified, and 
appropriate and adequate 
control, monitoring, 
accountability and reporting 
mechanisms are in place

- enhancement and protection of 
the reputation of the company

- reporting to shareholders and 
protection of their interests.

Shareholder Rights 
Shareholders are entitled to vote on 
significant matters impacting on the 
business, which include the election 
and remuneration of directors, 
changes to the Constitution and 
receipt of annual and interim 
financial statements. Shareholders 
are strongly encouraged to attend 
and participate in the annual general 
meetings of LabTech Systems 
Limited, to lodge questions to be 
responded to by the board  
and/or the Chief Executive Officer 
and Managing Director and appoint 
proxies where appropriate.

Risk Management
The board is responsible for 
ensuring there are adequate policies 
to oversee and manage risk and 
internal control systems. The 
Company policies are designed to 
ensure that strategic, operational, 
legal, reputation and financial 
risks are identified, assessed, 
addressed and monitored to enable 
achievement of the company’s 
objectives. The Chief Executive 
Officer and Managing Director 
has been delegated the task of 
implementing internal controls to 
identity and manage risks for which 
the board provides oversight.

Considerable importance is 
placed on maintaining a strong 
control environment. There is an 
organisation structure with clearly 
drawn lines of accountability and 
delegation of authority. Adherence 
to the Code of Conduct is required 
at all times and the board actively 
promotes a culture of quality 
and integrity.

The company’s Risk Management 
Policy is approved by the board.

During the year ended 30 June 2009, 
the board received and considered 
a comprehensive Risk Report 
from management. That report 
outlined the major risks to which 
the company is exposed together 
with recommendations or actions 
required to address those risks and 
resulted in a Risk Management 
Policy and criteria for risks reviewed 
by the board.

The board holds an annual corporate 
strategy workshop attended by 
the board and key managers and 
consultants. This reviews the 
company’s strategic direction in 
detail and includes specific focus on 
the identification of the key business 
and financial risks which could 
prevent the company from achieving 
its objectives.

In addition the board requires that 
each major proposal submitted 
to the board for decision be 
accompanied by a comprehensive 
risk assessment and, where 
required, management’s proposed 
mitigation strategies.

Remuneration Policies
All executives receive a base 
salary, superannuation, fringe 
benefits, performance incentives 
and retirement benefits. The 
Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee reviews executive 
packages annually by reference to 
company performance, executive 
performance, comparable 
information from industry sectors 
and other listed companies 
and independent advice where 
necessary. The performance of 
executives is measured against 
criteria agreed yearly which is 
based on the forecast growth of the 
company’s profits and shareholder 
value. The policy is designed to 
attract the highest calibre executives 
and reward them for performance, 
which results in long-term growth in 
shareholder value.

Executives are also entitled to 
participate in the employee share 
and option arrangements.

The amount of remuneration for 
all key management personnel 
for the company and the five 
highest paid executives (note, the 
company currently employs one 
executive), including all monetary 
and non-monetary components, 
are detailed in the Directors Report 
under the heading Key Management 
Personnel Compensation. All 
remuneration paid to executives is 
valued at the cost to the company 
and is expensed. Shares given 
to executives are valued as the 
difference between the market price 
of those shares and the amount paid 
by the executive. Options are valued 
using the Binomial methodology.

The board expects that the 
remuneration structure 
implemented will result in the 
company being able to attract and 
retain the best executives to run 
the company. It will also provide 
executives with the necessary 
incentives to work to grow long-term 
shareholder value. 

The payment of bonuses, options 
and other incentive payments 
are reviewed by the Nominations 
and Remuneration Committee 
annually as part of the review of 
executive remuneration and a 
recommendation is put to the board 
for approval. All bonuses, options 
and incentives must be linked to 
predetermined performance criteria.

John Glasson, Scientific Director.
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The committee also reviews the 
remuneration for directors including 
directors’ participation in the 
company’s Employee Share Options 
Plan. New directors are provided 
with a letter of appointment setting 
out their responsibilities, rights 
and the terms and conditions of 
their employment. All new directors 
participate in a comprehensive, 
formal induction program, 
which covers financial, strategic, 
operations and risk management 
issues as well as expectations for 
director behaviour.

The committee advises the board 
on remuneration policies and 
practices generally, and makes 
specific recommendations on 
remuneration packages and 
other terms of employment for 
the Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director and other 
senior executives. Performance 
evaluation of the Chief Executive 
Officer and Managing Director 
together with other senior executives 
of the company takes place at 
least annually and in accordance 
with the practices described in 
the Remuneration Report. The 
company’s remuneration practices 
are disclosed in greater detail in the 
Remuneration Report included in 
the Directors’ Report.

Each senior executive has an 
employment contract covering a 
range of matters including their 
duties, rights, responsibilities and 
any entitlements on termination. 
The standard contract refers to a 
specific position description.

Expertise in specific areas (e.g. 
marketing) is provided by consultants 
to the company, engaged under 
consultancy agreements detailing 
duties, responsibilities and fees. 

Director and executive remuneration 
and other terms of employment are 
reviewed annually by the committee 
having regard to personal and 
corporate performance, contribution 
to long-term growth, relevant 
comparative information and 
independent expert advice.

Further information on directors’ and 
executives’ remuneration is set out in 
the Directors’ Report.

Other Information
External Auditors
Company and Audit Committee 
policy is to appoint external auditors 
who clearly demonstrate quality and 
independence. The performance 
of the external auditor is reviewed 
annually and applications for tender 
of external audit services are 
requested as deemed appropriate, 
taking into consideration 
assessment of performance, existing 
value and tender costs.

The current audit engagement 
partner was introduced for the audit 
for the year ended 30 June 2005 and 
in accordance with the transitional 
provisions of the five year rotation 
requirement, has rotated off the 
engagement at the conclusion of 
the 30 June 2009 audit. Mr Corey 
McGowan will replace Mr Plummer 
as the audit engagement partner for 
the audit of the company’s financial 
statements for 2010.

An analysis of fees paid to the 
external auditors, including a 
breakdown of fees for non-audit 
services, is provided in the Directors’ 
Report. It is the policy of the external 
auditors to provide an annual 
declaration of their independence to 
the Audit Committee.

The external auditor is requested 
to attend the AGM and be available 
to answer shareholder questions 
about the conduct of the audit and 
the preparation and content of the 
audit report.

Corporate Reporting
The Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director and Chief 
Financial Officer have made the 
following certifications to the board:
•	 that	the	company’s	financial	

reports are complete and present 
a true and fair view, in all material 
respects, of the financial condition 
and operational results of the 
company

•	 that	the	above	statement	is	
founded on a sound system 
of internal control and risk 
management which implements 
the policies adopted by the board 
and that the company’s risk 
management and internal controls 
are operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects.

This certification was performed for 
the year ended 30 June 2009.

Continuous Disclosure and 
Shareholder Communication
The Company Secretary has been 
nominated as the person responsible 
for communications with the ASX. 
The company has a Communications 
Policy that designates responsibility 
for ensuring compliance with the 
continuous disclosure requirements 
in the ASX listing rules and 
overseeing and coordinating 
information disclosure to the ASX, 
analysts, brokers, shareholders, the 
media and the public.

When analysts are briefed 
on aspects of the company’s 
operations, the material used in the 
presentation is either specifically 
released to the ASX before the 
presentation or is already publicly 
available information. In the event 
that any price sensitive information 
has been inadvertently disclosed, 
this information is also immediately 
released to the ASX.

All recent company announcements, 
media releases, details of company 
meetings, and financial reports are 
available on the company’s website, 
www.labtechsystems.com. 

The website also provides a 
mechanism for shareholders to 
communicate with the company 
through electronic means.

Further information relating to the 
company’s corporate governance 
practices and policies is in the 
process of being made publicly 
available on the company’s website 
at www.labtechsystems.com./
corporategovernance.html. 

Use of Cash and Assets in a form 
readily Convertible to Cash
In accordance with ASX listing rule 
4.10.19 the company confirms 
that during the reporting period, 
it has used cash and assets 
in a form readily convertible 
to cash at admission time in 
a manner consistent with its 
business activities.

Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee
Current members of the 
Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee are as follows:
R A Finder (Independent Chairman)

D P LeMessurier (Non-executive 
Director)

Details of the directors’ 
qualifications, experience and 
attendance at committee meetings 
are set out in the Directors’ Report.

The Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee operates in accordance 
with its charter. The committee 
advises the board on suitable 
candidates for the position of 
director. When the need for a new 
director is identified or an existing 
director is required to stand for 
re-election, the committee reviews 
the range of skills, experience and 
expertise on the board, identifies 
the needs and prepares a short-list 
of candidates. Where necessary, 
advice is sought from independent 
search candidates.  
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Your directors present their report 
on the company for the year ended 
30 June 2009.

Directors
The names of the directors in office 
at any time during or since the end 
of the year are:
Robert Andrew Finder 
Chairman

Lusia Halina Guthrie 
Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director

Douglas Peter LeMessurier 
Non-executive Director

Catherine Mary Costello 
Non-executive Director

Paul Andrew Mariani  
Non-executive Director  
(Mr Mariani passed away  
16 November 2008)

Stephen Paul Mathwin 
Non-executive Director

Directors have been in office since 
the start of the financial year to 
the date of this report, unless 
otherwise stated.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the company during the 
financial year were those of researching and further 
developing innovative technologies for the healthcare and 
laboratory supply markets.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the 
entity’s principal activities during the financial year.

Operating Results
The profit / (loss) of the company for the year ended 30 
June 2009 after tax was $336,927 (2008 $721,911). 

Dividends Paid or Recommended
No dividends were paid, nor recommended to be paid.

Review of Operations
MicroStreak® and PREVI™ Isola 
LabTech Systems’ current leading technology is the 
breakthrough MicroStreak® system for streaking 
biological samples onto agar plates. The company’s 
focus has been the incorporation of MicroStreak® into 
revolutionary robotic instrumentation for the automation 
of agar plate processing in diagnostic microbiology 
laboratories. It is designed to replace a technique first 
developed in the 1880’s that has remained in use in 
microbiology lab processing to this day. 

Directors’ Report

Company Secretary
The following person held the 
position of company secretary at the 
end of the financial year:
Jamie Todd Dreckow

Qualifications
Bachelor of Arts (Accountancy), 
Chartered Accountant

Experience
Jamie is a partner of Edwards 
Marshall Chartered Accountants, 
where he has worked for over 20 
years. He is a registered company 
auditor and is also a past board 
member of the Nurses Board of 
South Australia and past director of 
the Repatriation General Hospital.

The patented MicroStreak® applicator, 
used in PREVI™ Isola.

MicroStreak® represents a significant advance and 
change in the way agar plates are processed in labs 
around the world. This application of MicroStreak® was 
licensed to bioMérieux in 2007, who named the system 
PREVI™ Isola, incorporating it into their PREVI™ range of 
automated laboratory equipment. 

PREVI™ Isola has the capacity to offer significant time, 
space and cost savings to laboratory operators. In the 
current trend of laboratory consolidation, there is strong 
demand for automation that can standardise processes 
and provide traceability, timesaving and optimised 
workflow, as well as improved safety. PREVI™ Isola 
offers laboratory staff the opportunity to use their time in 
more valuable activities that relate to patient care. As the 
first product of its kind on the market we believe it has a 
very promising future.

About bioMérieux
A world leader in the field of in vitro diagnostics for 
over 45 years, bioMérieux is present in more than 150 
countries through 39 subsidiaries and a large network 
of distributors. In 2008, revenues reached €1.111 billion 
with 84% of sales outside of France. 

bioMérieux provides diagnostic solutions (reagents, 
instruments, software), which determine the source 
of disease and contamination to improve patient 
health and ensure consumer safety. Its products are 
used for diagnosing infectious diseases and providing 
high medical value results for cancer screening and 
monitoring and cardiovascular emergencies. They are 
also used for detecting microorganisms in agri-food, 
pharmaceutical and cosmetic products.

bioMérieux is listed on the NYSE Euronext Paris market 
(Symbol: BIM – ISIN: FR0010096479). Other information 
can be found at www.biomerieux.com.

Left to right: Peter LeMessurier,  
Kate Costello, Bob Finder, Lusia Guthrie 
& Stephen Mathwin.

Jamie Dreckow
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Business Highlights
First Half 2008/09 was busy 
with pre-launch activities and 
implementation of production, 
culminating in the launch of PREVI™ 
Isola internationally. Earlier in the 
year, PREVI™ Isola had been a 
major success at its pre-launch 
unveiling in Barcelona, London and 
Boston. In July 2008, the technology 
was showcased at the Australian 
Society of Microbiology Conference 
in Melbourne.

Completion of product development 
and establishment of production 
at Invetech Pty Ltd, triggered the 
transfer of ongoing responsibility 
for manufacture, marketing and 
distribution to bioMérieux and 
qualified LabTech Systems for 
another milestone payment. In 
September 2008, the company 
received €1 Million ($1.78 Million) 
from bioMérieux subsequent to the 
delivery of the first production units. 

The licence agreement with 
bioMérieux provides LabTech 
Systems with a royalty income 
calculated by reference to sales of 
PREVI™ Isola disposable applicators 
(not instruments), with provision 
for minimum royalties from 1 
January 2009. 

There are no outstanding obligations 
upon LabTech Systems in relation 
to costs for any further development 
of the core technology, providing 
working capital for manufacture and 
distribution, or marketing. Under the 
terms of the licence agreement, this 
was also the trigger for the transfer 
of continued patent prosecution 
to bioMérieux.

The company was successful in 
obtaining an Austrade Export Market 
Development Grant of $56,236. 

By 30 June 2009, PREVI™ Isola 
systems had been installed in 
clinical microbiology laboratories 
in France, Germany, Netherlands, 
Sweden, Italy, China and the USA. 
Following a successful user-
evaluation trial by bioMérieux 
Australia, the system was made 
available in Australia.

The year was marked by turmoil 
in the capital markets, affecting 
many life science companies 
in Australia and the northern 
hemisphere. A crisis emerged in the 
US healthcare system laboratories 
in USA and Europe became slow 
to make purchasing decisions 
and diagnostics companies in the 
northern hemisphere generally 
reported decreased capital sales, 
while consumables consumption 
continued to grow. 

Directors’ Report
The global financial downturn has not affected LabTech 
System’s long-term ambitions for company growth, 
however a prudent approach was implemented to the 
management of expenses. 

The company’s licence partner, bioMérieux, reported 
in its Half Year result to 30 June 2009, that it had 
expanded its international sales network and increased 
its total installed base of instruments worldwide. This 
is a reassuring result, and is affirmation that, despite 
the difficulties of launching a new technology in a 
challenging global economic environment, LabTech 
Systems has full confidence in bioMérieux’s ability to 
market PREVI™ Isola successfully. 

The first sales of PREVI™ Isola in Europe and USA 
triggered milestone payment obligations by LabTech 
Systems to Medvet Science Pty Ltd, from whom 
the MicroStreak® applicator concept was licensed. 
Accordingly, provision has been made for milestone 
payments of AU$200,000 to Medvet during Q1 2009/10. 
A further AU$20,000 is payable upon first commercial 
sale in Australia.

In the calendar year commencing 1 January 2009 the 
guaranteed minimum royalty income is US$240,000. 
A licence payment of approx AU$3.4million (at current 
exchange rates) is due from bioMérieux to LabTech 
Systems in Q4 2009/10.

It is expected that as sales of PREVI™ Isola grow, the 
royalty stream from applicators will provide ongoing 
returns on the technology. Further updates on the royalty 
stream and commercial progress will be included in 
LabTech Systems’ Year End report later this month, 
subject to commercial confidentiality requirements 
of bioMérieux. 

The licence agreement with bioMérieux allows LabTech 
Systems to commercialise the MicroStreak® technology 
for other applications. The company aims to leverage 
this world-leading technology in as many applications 
as possible. The company will pursue its growth strategy 
by identifying further areas of unmet need within the 
pathology laboratory sector, including but not limited to 
clinical microbiology. 

Market research is being undertaken to review the 
company’s strategic direction and to explore a new 
technology and product pipeline. 

Top, left to right: Graeme Cross, VP Technology 
Development; Kea Dent of KD&A Regulatory 
Consultants; Bob Finder.

Above: Lusia Guthrie and John Glasson.

Traditional manual agar plate streaking 
(left) versus automated MicroStreak® 
technology on the right.
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Intellectual Property 
In September 2008 the company’s design patent covering 
the MicroStreak® applicator was granted in China. This 
applicator design patent was the first to be granted 
from LabTech Systems’ suite of intellectual property 
surrounding the MicroStreak® system. 

Other patents covering both the applicator and several 
key components of the automated robotic system are 
pending. As royalties from applicator sales comprise 
a long-term revenue stream from this product, the 
protection of its design by patents is vitally important.

Corporate and Personnel Developments 
Over the past twelve months the company has made 
several promotions and moved offices. John Glasson, the 
inventor of the novel streaking technology, was appointed 
as the company’s new Scientific Director and Dr Graeme 
Cross was appointed as Vice President, Technology 
Development. These appointments are vital for the next 
stage of company development.

In 2009 the company’s Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director, Lusia Guthrie, was appointed 
to the Future Manufacturing Industry Innovation 
Council. The Council’s focus is on innovation-intensive, 
high technology, high value-adding and high-skill 
manufacturing using advanced processes, materials 
and technologies.

Mr Paul Mariani
The directors were deeply saddened to announce 
the death of Non-executive Director Paul Mariani 
on 16 November 2008. Paul was a co-founder of 
LabTech Systems.

Financial Position
The net assets of the company have increased 
by $350,812 from $12,885,997 in 30 June 2008 to 
$13,236,810 in 2009.

Cash on hand and at bank decreased by $727,937. 
Capitalised development expenditure increased by 
$907,967 as the company finalised development 
activities associated with its MicroStreak® technology.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs 
The following significant changes in the state of affairs 
of the company occurred during the year ended 30 
June 2009:

•	 during	the	past	year,	LabTech	Systems	finalised	the	
program of product development and manufacturing 
establishment for its MicroStreak® technology, to be 
known as PREVI™ Isola in the marketplace 

•	manufacture	of	PREVI™	Isola	was	established	at	
Leica MicroSystems (Invetech) in Melbourne 

•	 in	September	2008,	the	company	announced	the	
delivery of the first PREVI™ Isola pilot production 
units to bioMérieux, thereby qualifying LabTech 
Systems to receive the third payment (one million 
Euro) under the licence agreement 

•	 upon	delivery	of	the	pilot	production	units,	
responsibility for the ongoing manufacture, 
marketing and distribution of PREVI™ Isola 
transferred to bioMérieux. There are no outstanding 
obligations upon LabTech Systems in relation to 
costs for any further development of MicroStreak®, 
provision of working capital for production, 
distribution or marketing expenses

•	 also	in	September	2008,	the	company	announced	
that its design patent covering the MicroStreak® 
applicator had been granted in China

•	 the	agreement	with	bioMérieux	provides	a	royalty	
income calculated by reference to sales of PREVI™ 
Isola disposable applicators (not instruments), with 
provision for minimum royalties from 1 January 2009

•	 the	first	sales	of	PREVI™	Isola	in	USA	and	Europe	
were announced, triggering milestone payment 
obligations by LabTech Systems to Medvet 
Science Pty Ltd

•	 in	April	2009,	the	company	relocated	its	registered	
office and principal place of business

•	 at	30	June	2009,	PREVI™	Isola	systems	had	been	
installed in laboratories in France, Germany, 
Netherlands, Italy, Sweden, China and USA.

Directors’ Report

PREVI™ Isola automated plate streaker 
incorporating MicroStreak®.

After Balance Date Events
In August 2009, the Australian 
Patent Office granted its patent 
for the agar plate streaking 
technology that is at the core of the 
MicroStreak® system. This patent 
is part of a wider international 
patent application that is being 
progressed worldwide. Australian 
Patent 2005206219, entitled 
‘microbial streaking device’ covers 
the methods and design of the agar 
plate streaker, which was licensed to 
bioMérieux in 2007.

Future Developments, 
Prospects and Business 
Strategies
The licence agreement with 
bioMérieux allows LabTech Systems 
to commercialise the MicroStreak® 
technology for other applications. 
The company plans to explore line 
extension products to leverage this 
world-leading technology.

With the successful completion 
and launch of its first product, the 
company is pursuing its growth 
strategy and has continued to 
innovate. Further areas of unmet 
need and commercial opportunity 
have been identified and new 
technologies to overcome such are 
being pursued.

Environmental Issues
The company’s operations are not 
subject to significant environmental 
regulation under the law of the 
Commonwealth and State.

Paul Mariani, former  
Non-executive Director
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Douglas Peter LeMessurier

Qualifications
Sharebroker

Experience
Peter has held positions as State Manager of D & D 
Tolhurst Ltd – South Australia, a national share broking 
firm, and as a director of the South Australian Asset 
Management Corporation (chair of Super Fund and a 
member of its Audit and Insurance Committee).  
Peter is a former board member of the Royal Adelaide 
Hospital Inc.

Peter is a past Commissioner of the South Australian 
Lotteries Commission (past chair of the Audit 
Committee) and past Member of the Audit Committee. 
Peter is a co-founder and past Chairman of LabTech 
Systems and is Chairman of Vet Biotechnology Ltd, 
past Chairman and current director of Oncaidia Ltd, 
director of Ascend Group Ltd and was a director of GTL 
Energy Ltd.

Interest in Shares 1,943,334 Ordinary Shares

Interest in Options 625,000 Class A Options 
 250,000 Class F Options

Third Party Holdings 

•	Palpet	Pty	Ltd	 1,666,667	 Ordinary	Shares 
 500,000 Class A Options

•	 First	Avenue		 1,666,667	 Ordinary	Shares 
Investments Pty Ltd 500,000 Class A Options

•	College	Park		 1,566,667	 Ordinary	Shares 
Investments Pty Ltd 500,000 Class A Options

•	Kytron	Pty	Ltd	 1,418,304	 Ordinary	Shares 
 590,000 Class A Options

•	College	Street		 475,000	 Ordinary	Shares 
Nominees Pty Ltd  
as trustee of the  
JPLEM Super Fund

Directorships held in  Vet Biotechnology Limited 
other listed entities Ascend Group Limited

Interest in Contracts Nil

Lusia Halina Guthrie

Qualifications
Masters Degree Science and Technology 
Commercialisation (University of Adelaide) and Bachelor 
of Applied Science in Medical Technology (University of 
South Australia)

Experience
Lusia has over 25 years experience in the pathology 
and pharmaceutical industries. She commenced her 
professional career as a medical laboratory scientist and 
laboratory manager, changing direction after 10 years 
to join the pharmaceutical industry, where she spent 
the next 13 years. She has executive level operations 
and manufacturing management experience with a 
major international pharmaceutical company. Areas 
of expertise include product development, production 
and supply chain management, project management, 
industrial relations and regulatory compliance. She 
has also worked in intellectual property management 
and commercialisation for a leading Adelaide 
research institute. 

Lusia is a co-founder of LabTech Systems and is a 
non-executive director of public company, Oncaidia Ltd. 
She has completed the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors program and has held several non-executive 
board appointments.

Lusia has previously served as a member of the 
Manufacturing Consultative Council for the State 
Government of South Australia. She currently serves 
on the AusBiotech Advisory Committee, AusMedTech, 
which is the national group that represents the medical 
devices and diagnostics industry sector and is a member 
of the Future Manufacturing Industry Innovation Council 
(FMIIC) for the Australian Government Department of 
Innovation, Canberra.

Interest in Shares 4,583,334 Ordinary Shares 
 1,375,000 Class A Options

Interest in Options Nil

•	 LH	&	HB	Guthrie	as		 180,000	 Ordinary	Shares 
trustees of the  
Podlaska Super Fund

Directorships held in  Nil 
other listed entities

Interest in Contracts Nil

Directors’ Report

Information on Directors 
Robert Andrew Finder

Qualifications
Bachelor of Science Chemical Engineering from the 
University of Detroit

Experience
Bob has more than 35 years experience in the 
international pharmaceutical and chemical industries 
and	has	retired	as	Chief	Executive	Officer	of	Novozymes	
GroPep	Limited,	the	Australian	subsidiary	of	Novozymes,	
a global biotechnology company. Bob was Managing 
Director and Chief Executive Officer of GroPep before the 
Novozymes	acquisition	from	2002-6.

Prior to joining GroPep in 2002, Bob was President and 
Chief Operating Officer of Mayne Pharma – Americas 
and Asia Pacific. In this role, Bob was responsible 
for the commercial activities for the Americas and 
Asia Pacific region as well as for global research and 
development for Mayne Pharma. Mayne Pharma evolved 
from Mayne’s acquisition of F H Faulding, where Bob 
was President and Chief Operating Officer of Faulding 
Pharmaceuticals – Asia Pacific. 

Prior to Faulding, Bob’s roles included Vice President 
Manufacturing for Ecogen Inc, in Pennsylvania, Director 
Manufacturing for Rhone-Poulenc (USA) and Managing 
Director of Monsanto Chemicals in Thailand. He is a 
member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 
and the American Institute of Chemical Engineers.

Bob is currently on the board of directors of National 
Pharmacies, Living Cell Technologies Ltd and past 
Chairman of Reproductive Health Science Pty Ltd.

Interest in Shares Nil

Interest in Options 750,000 Options expiring   
  5 December 2017

Third Party Holdings 

•	 Sheryl	Jean	Finder	 250,000	 Ordinary	Shares	

Directorships held in  Living Cell Technologies Ltd 
other listed entities

Interest in Contracts Nil
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Information on Directors cont.
Catherine Mary Costello

Qualifications
Law Degree – University of Melbourne

Experience
Kate was in management with a commercial law firm 
before establishing a management consultancy. Kate 
has over 20 years experience in corporate governance 
and strategy through her consulting work with the 
boards of client organisations, her directorships and 
her previous involvement as a facilitator in the Company 
Directors’ Course offered by the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

Kate’s board experience includes directorships in the 
South	Australian	Totalizator	Agency	Board,	Australian	
Central Credit Union Ltd, Festival City Broadcasters Ltd 
and chairmanship of Saab Intelligent Transport Systems 
Ltd and Bassett Consulting Engineers. She is currently 
a director of Integrated Research Ltd, Oncaidia Ltd and 
a member of the Independent Selection Committee, 
University of Adelaide.

Interest in Shares Nil

Interest in Options Nil

Third Party Holdings

•	Costello	Consulting		 750,000	 Class	B	Options 
Pty Ltd 250,000 Class F Options

Directorships held in  Integrated Research Ltd 
other listed entities

Interest in Contracts Nil

Stephen Paul Mathwin

Qualifications
Law Degree – University of Adelaide

Experience
Stephen has more than 30 years experience as a legal 
practitioner, including being a partner with the Adelaide 
law firm Kelly & Co from 1988 to 2001. In that time he 
headed the firm’s Employment, Industrial Law and 
Superannuation sections. He was also responsible 
for managing much of Kelly and Co’s internal risk 
management functions. Stephen remains a consultant  
to the firm. 

Stephen is Deputy Chair and Chairman of the Investment 
Committee of Non Government Schools (NGS) 
Superannuation Fund, a fund of in excess of $3 billion. 
He is also the Chairman of Brown Wood Panels Pty 
Ltd, Australian Timbers Pty Ltd and Poly Products Co 
Pty Ltd, a director of the McArthur Management Group 
of Companies, Albox Australia Pty Ltd and Paragon 
Equity Limited.

Interest in Shares Nil

Interest in Options 500,000 Class E Options

Third Party Holdings

•	Ruin	Pty	Ltd	as	 1,150,000	 Ordinary	Shares 
trustee for the 150,000 Class C Options 
Steve Mathwin  
Superannuation Fund

Directorships held in  Nil 
other listed entities

Interest in Contracts Nil

Directors’ Report

Remuneration Report
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration of each key management person of LabTech Systems and 
for the executives receiving the highest remuneration.

Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy of LabTech Systems has been designed to align key management personnel objectives with 
shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering specific long-term 
incentives based on key performance areas affecting the company’s financial results. 

The key objectives of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee are to appropriately and effectively attract and 
retain the best executives and directors to run and manage the company, as well as create goals congruent between 
directors, executives and shareholders.

The Remuneration Policy, setting the terms and conditions for Non-executive and Executive directors and other 
senior executives, was developed by the Nominations and Remuneration Committee and approved by the board. 

The Remuneration Policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between shareholders and directors and 
executives with:

•	 performance	bonuses	based	on	key	performance	indicators	(KPI’s)	and

•	 issue	of	options	to	the	directors	and	executives	to	encourage	the	alignment	of	personal	and	shareholder	interests.

The following table shows the gross revenue, profits/ (losses) and earnings per share for the past four years. The 
board is of the opinion that the results can be attributed in part to the previously described Remuneration Policy and 
is satisfied that this continued improvement has lead to increased shareholder wealth over the past four years:

 2009 2008 2007 2006

Revenue  $2.2m $2.3m $3.6m $0.02m

Net Profit / (Loss) $0.34m $0.72m $0.97m $(0.42m)

Basic Earnings per share (cents per share) 0.34 0.73 1.31 (1.08)

Diluted Earnings per share (cents per share) 0.25 0.54 0.90 (1.08)

The LabTech Systems board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for board members and 
senior company executives follows.

Executive Terms & Conditions
All executives receive a base salary, based on performance, professional qualifications and experience and 
superannuation, fringe benefits, options and performance incentives.

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee reviews executive packages annually by reference to the company’s 
performance, executive performance and comparable information from industry sectors and other listed companies 
in similar industries.
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Remuneration Report cont.
Performance Measurement
The performance of executives is measured against criteria agreed annually with each executive and is based 
predominantly on the forecast growth of the company’s profits and shareholders’ value.

All bonuses and incentives must be linked to predetermined performance criteria. The board may, however, exercise 
its discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options, and can decide changes to the Nominations 
and Remuneration Committee’s recommendations.

Any change must be justified by reference to measurable performance criteria. The policy is designed to 
attract the highest calibre of executives and reward them for performance that results in long-term growth in 
shareholder wealth.

Executives are also entitled to participate in the employee share and option arrangements.

As part of executives’ remuneration package there is a performance-based component consisting of key 
performance indicators. The intention of this programme is to facilitate goal congruence between executives of the 
business and shareholders.

Key Performance Indicators – KPI’s:

•	 are	set	annually	by	the	board	on	recommendation	from	Nominations	and	Remuneration	Committee.	The	measures	
are specifically tailored to the responsibility areas in which the director / executive is directly involved

•	 target	areas	the	board	believes	hold	greater	potential	for	business	expansion	and	profit

•	 cover	financial	and	non-financial	as	well	as	short-	and	long-term	goals

•	 are	based	on	the	level	set	for	each	KPI	is	based	on	budgeted	figures	for	the	company	and	respective	
industry standards.

Performance in relation to KPI’s is assessed annually, with minor quarterly reviews and bonuses being awarded 
depend on the number and difficulty of the KPI’s achieved.

Following the assessment, the KPI’s are reviewed by the Nominations and Remuneration Committee in light of the 
desired and actual outcomes. The efficacy of the KPI’s is assessed in relation to the company’s goals and shareholder 
wealth, before the KPI’s are set for the following year. Where advisable, independent reports are obtained from 
external organisations.

Superannuation
Executive directors and executives receive a superannuation guarantee contribution, required by the government, 
which is currently 9% and do not receive any other retirement benefits. Individuals may choose to sacrifice part of 
their salary to increase payments towards superannuation.

Non-executive Directors
The board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, 
commitment and responsibilities. The Nominations and Remuneration Committee determines payments to 
non-executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. 
Independent external advice is sought when required.

The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is subject to approval by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Fees for non-executive directors are not linked to the performance of the company. To align directors’ interests with 
shareholder interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the company and are able to participate in the 
employee share option plan.

Shares & Options
Shares given to directors and executives are valued at their fair value on the date granted based on market prices. 
Options given to directors and executives are valued at their fair value using the Binomial option-pricing model.

Key Management Personnel Remuneration

2009 Cash Salary, Fees 
& Commissions

Superannuation 
Contributions(1)

Cash 
Bonus

Non-Cash 
Benefits Shares Options(2) Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Mr R A Finder 13 71 0 0 0 45 129

Mr D P LeMessurier 43 4 0 0 0 13 60

Mrs L H Guthrie 186 133 0 0 0 0 319

Mrs C M Costello 50 5 0 0 0 13 68

Mr S P Mathwin 0 49 0 0 0 34 83

292 262 0 0 0 105 659

(1) Superannuation contributions include a $ 70,000 performance based bonus that Mrs Guthrie elected to be contributed into superannuation.

(2) No options were granted during the year ended 30 June 2009, however in accordance with AASB2 “Share Based Payments” the fair value of 
options has been expensed over the vesting period.

2008 Cash Salary, Fees 
& Commissions

Superannuation 
Contributions(1)

Cash 
Bonus

Non-Cash 
Benefits Shares Options(2) Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Mr R A Finder 13 71 0 0 0 2 110

Mr D P LeMessurier 43 4 0 0 0 15 62

Mrs L H Guthrie 178 54 0 0 0 0 232

Mr P A Mariani 43 4 0 0 0 0 47

Mrs C M Costello 50 5 0 0 0 15 70

Mr S P Mathwin 0 49 0 0 0 42 91

327 187 0 0 0 98 612

Options Granted as Remuneration
All options granted vest within two years of issue date and expire within 8 years of vesting.  
All options were granted for nil consideration.

No options were granted as Remuneration during 2009.

Directors’ Report
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Remuneration Report cont.
Options Granted as Remuneration cont.

2008 Vested  
Number

Granted  
Number

Grant  
Date

Value per 
Option 

at Grant 
Date($)

Exercise 
Price ($)

First 
Exercise 

Date

Late 
Exercise 

Date

Mr R A Finder 0 750,000 5/12/07 0.12 0.20 5/12/09 5/12/17

Mr D P LeMessurier 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mrs L H Guthrie 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mr P A Mariani 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mrs C M Costello 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mr S P Mathwin 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 750,000

Options issued as part of Remuneration

Options granted  
as part of  

Remuneration ($)

Total Remuneration 
represented by 

Options (%)

Options  
exercised

Options  
lapsed Total ($)

Mr R A Finder 44,938 34.8 0 0 44,938

Mr D P LeMessurier 13,461 22.4 0 0 13,461

Mrs L H Guthrie 0 0 0 0 0

Mr P A Mariani 0 0 0 0 0

Mrs C M Costello 13,461 19.8 0 0 13,461

Mr S P Mathwin 33,837 40.8 0 0 33,837

105,697 0 105,697

Shares Issued on Exercise of Compensation Options
No options were exercised during the year that were granted as compensation in prior periods.

Meetings of Directors
During the period to 30 June 2009, 11 meetings of 
directors were held. Attendances by each director during 
the reporting period were:

Number Eligible  
to attend

Number  
attended

Mr R A Finder 11 11

Mr D P LeMessurier 11 9

Mrs L H Guthrie 11 11

Mr P A Mariani 5 4

Mrs C M Costello 11 10

Mr S P Mathwin 11 10

During the period to 30 June 2009, 3 meetings of the 
Audit Committee were held. Attendances by each 
member during the reporting period were:

Number Eligible  
to attend

Number  
attended

Mrs C M Costello 3 3

Mr S P Mathwin 3 3

During the period to 30 June 2009, 2 meetings of the 
Nominations and Remuneration Committee were held. 
Attendances by each member during the reporting 
period were:

Number Eligible  
to attend

Number  
attended

Mr R A Finder 2 2

Mr D P LeMessurier 2 2

Mr P A Mariani 1 1

Indemnifying Officers or Auditor
The company has paid premiums to insure each of 
the following directors against liabilities for costs and 
expenses incurred by them in defending any legal 
proceedings arising out of their conduct, while acting 
in the capacity of director of the company, other than 
conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to 
the company. The amount of the premium has not been 
disclosed as it is confidential under the terms of the 
insurance policy.

Mr R A Finder

Mr D P LeMessurier

Mrs L H Guthrie

Mrs C M Costello

Mr S P Mathwin

Directors’ Report
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Option Details
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of LabTech Systems under option are as follows:

Class Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number of Options No of Shares due on 
Conversion

A 30/06/2012 $0.20 8,045,000 13,408,333

B 30/06/2013 $0.20 6,114,350 10,190,583

C 30/06/2013 $0.20 20,435,000 20,435,000

D 17/04/2012 $0.14 702,369 702,369

E 17/04/2017 $0.20 500,000 500,000

F 24/05/2017 $0.30 500,000 500,000

n/a 5/12/2017 $0.20 750,000 750,000

n/a 5/12/2012 $0.14 921,482 921,482

37,968,201 47,407,767

There have been no shares issued from the conversion of options during the year ended 30 June 2009. No amounts 
are unpaid on any of the shares.

No person entitled to exercise the option had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue 
of any other body corporate.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any 
proceeding to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or 
any part of those proceedings.

The company was not a party to any proceedings during the reporting period.

Directors’ Report

Non-audit Services
The board of directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible with the general 
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the 
services disclosed below did not compromise the external auditor’s independence for the following reasons:

•	 all	non-audit	services	are	reviewed	and	approved	by	the	board	prior	to	commencement	to	ensure	they	do	not	
adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

•	 the	nature	of	the	services	provided	do	not	compromise	the	general	principles	relating	to	auditor	independence	as	
set out in the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and CPA Australia’s Professional Statement APES 110: 
Professional Independence.

The following fees for non-audit services were paid / payable to the external auditors during the year ended 30 June 
2009: NIL.

Auditor Independence Declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2009 has been received and can be found on page 26.

Rounding of Amounts
The company is an entity to which ASIC Class Order 98/100 applies and, accordingly, amounts in the financial 
statements and directors report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors.

Chairman

Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Dated at Adelaide this 28th day of September 2009
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Income Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

Auditors’ Independence Declaration

 Note 2009 2008 
  $000 $000

Revenue 2 2,218 2,274

Consulting Fees 3a (27) (177)

Employee benefits expense 3b (1,038) (967)

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (41) (29)

General administration expenses  (240) (284)

Legal  (44) (107)

Marketing  (38) (84)

Milestone expense  (200) 0

Other Expenses 3c (330) (398)

Finance Costs  0 (3)

Profit / (Loss) before income tax  260 225

Income tax (expense) / benefit 4a 77 497

Net profit / (loss) for the year  337 722

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)  0.34 0.73

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)  0.25 0.54

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements
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Balance Sheet
As At 30 June 2009

 Note 2009 2008 
  $000 $000

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 3,214 3,942

Trade and other receivables 6 209 481

Total Current Assets  3,423 4,423

Non‑Current Assets

Plant and equipment 7 20 12

Deferred tax assets 15 4,042 3,682

Intangible assets 8 12,352 11,468

Total Non‑Current Assets  16,414 15,162

Total Assets  19,837 19,585

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 9 417 875

Financial liabilities 10a 13 9

Total Current Liabilities  430 884

Non‑Current Liabilities

Financial liabilities 10b 2,496 2,503

Deferred tax liabilities 15 3,674 3,312

Total Non‑Current Liabilities  6,170 5,815

Total Liabilities  6,600 6,699

Net Assets  13,237 12,886

Equity

Issued Capital 11 11,412 11,504

Reserve 12 764 658

Retained Earnings  1,061 724

Total Equity  13,237 12,886

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

   Accumulated 
 Option  Share (Losses) / Total 
 Reserve Capital Retained 
   Earnings 
 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2007 338 11,798 2 12,138

Shares issued during the year 0 7 0 7

Options granted as remuneration 320 0 0 320

Increase in capital raising costs (net of tax) 0 (301) 0 (301)

Profit attributable to members 0 0 722 722

Balance at 30 June 2008 658 11,504 724 12,886

Options granted as remuneration 106 0 0 106

Increase in capital raising costs (net of tax) 0 (92) 0 (92)

Profit attributable to members 0 0 337 337

Balance at 30 June 2009 764 11,412 1,061 13,237

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements
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Cash Flow Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

 Note 2009 2008 
  $000 $000

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Government Grant Received  209 1,244

Licence Fees  1,776 1,690

Payments to Suppliers and Employees  (1,414) (2,246)

Interest Paid  0 (1)

Interest Received   234 384

Net Cash provided by operating activities 13 805 1,071

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Payments for Plant and Equipment  (5) (8)

Capitalised Development Costs  (1,508) (5,958)

Capitalised Patent Costs  (7) (129)

Net cash used in investing activities  (1,520) (6,095)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities   

Repayments of convertible notes  0 (10)

Proceeds from issue of shares   0 7

Costs associated with capital raising  (13) (7)

Net cash provided by financing activities  (13) (10)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (728) (5,034)

Cash and cash equivalents 1 July 2008  3,942 8,976

Cash and cash equivalents 30 June 2009 5 3,214 3,942

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, including Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.
The financial report covers LabTech Systems a public company incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
The financial report of LabTech Systems complies with all International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in 
their entirety.
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the company in the preparation of the 
financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.
Basis of Preparation
The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all years presented.
Reporting Basis and Conventions
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs modified by the 
revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair value basis 
of accounting has been applied.
Accounting Policies
(a) Income Tax

The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any 
non-assessable or disallowed items. It is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or are 
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, where there is 
no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised 
or liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the income statement except where it relates to items that 
may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption 
that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the company will 
derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions 
of deductibility imposed by the law.

(b)  Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses.
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of 
the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected 
net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net 
cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.
All repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they 
are incurred.
Depreciation
Plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful life to the company 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:
Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate
Plant and Equipment 5 – 33%
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance 
sheet date.
Any assets carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains 
and losses are included in the income statement.
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1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies cont.
(c) Intangibles

Licence Fees and Option Fees
Licence fees and option fees are valued in the accounts at cost of acquisition and are amortised over the 
period in which their benefits are expected to be realised.
Research Expenditure
Expenditure during the research phase of a project is recognised as an expense when incurred.
Patents
Patents are recognised at cost of acquisition. Patents have a finite life and are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Patent costs are amortised over their useful life 
ranging from 15 to 20 years.
MicroStreak® Development Costs
Capitalised development costs include the concept development and preliminary design costs for 
MicroStreak®, which include systems engineering, mechanical and electronic subsystems, and software 
costs (including prototypes and documentation).
Development costs are capitalised only when technical feasibility studies identify that the project will deliver 
future economic benefits and these benefits can be measured reliably.
Development costs have a finite life and are amortised on a systematic basis matched to the future economic 
benefits over the useful life of the project. Amortisation of MicroStreak® development costs will commence 
on launch of the product.

(d) Leases
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, 
are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

(e) Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction costs, when 
the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are 
measured as set out below.
Impairment
At each reporting date, the company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument 
has been impaired. Impairment losses are recognised on the income statement.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost less principal payments and amortisation.

(f) Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, the company reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable 
amount is expensed to the income statement. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
an individual asset, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs.

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, at call deposits with banks or financial institutions and is 
net of bank overdrafts.

(h) Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to the 
financial assets.
Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customers.
Licence fees are brought to account as revenue in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement. 
Where the condition under the agreement has been fulfilled and the payments are non-refundable, licence 
fees are brought to account as revenue only when it is probable that the fee will be received.
Revenues from royalties are recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the 
relevant agreement.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies cont.
(i) Share‑Based Payments

Equity Settled Transactions
The company currently has an Employee Share Option Plan in place to provide benefits to directors and 
executives in the form of share-payments whereby they render services in exchange for shares or rights over 
shares (equity-settled transactions).
The company may also provide options to selected consultants in exchange for their services. 
The cost of these equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Binomial 
option-pricing model.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over 
the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the 
relevant party becomes fully entitled to the award (the vesting period).
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only 
conditional upon a market condition.
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
earnings per share.

(j) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of the assets or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables 
in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of 
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(k) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
Foreign currency transactions during the year were converted to Australian currency at the rates of exchange 
applicable at the dates of the transactions. Amounts receivable and payable in foreign currencies at balance 
date were converted at the rates of exchange ruling at that date.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the income statement.

(l) Comparative Figures
Where required by Accounting Standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.

(m) Government Grants
Government grants are recognised at fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all grant conditions will be met. Grants relating to expenses are recognised as income over 
the periods necessary to match the grant to the costs they are compensating. Grants relating to assets are 
credited to deferred income at fair value and are credited to income over the expected useful life of the asset 
on a straight line basis.
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1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies cont.
(n) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods

The AASB has issued new, revised and amended standards and interpretations that have mandatory 
application dates for future reporting periods. The company has decided against early adoption of these 
standards. A discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the company follows:
AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 2007-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 101, and AASB 2007-10: Further Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 101 (all applicable to annual reporting periods commencing from 1 January 
2009). The revised AASB 101 and amendments supersede the previous AASB 101 and redefines the 
composition of financial statements including the inclusion of a statement of comprehensive income. 
There will be no measurement or recognition impact on the company. If an entity has made a prior period 
adjustment or reclassification, a third balance sheet as at the beginning of the comparative period will 
be required.
AASB 2008‑1: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard — Share-based Payments: Vesting Conditions 
and Cancellations [AASB 2] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing from 1 January 2009). This 
amendment to AASB 2 clarifies that vesting conditions consist of service and performance conditions only. 
Other elements of a share-based payment transaction should therefore be considered for the purposes of 
determining fair value. Cancellations are also required to be treated in the same manner whether cancelled 
by the entity or by another party.
AASB 2008‑5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements 
Project (July 2008) (AASB 2008-5) and AASB 2008-6: Further Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project (July 2008) (AASB 2008-6) detail numerous 
non-urgent but necessary changes to accounting standards arising from the IASB’s annual improvements 
project. No changes are expected to materially affect the company.
AASB 2008‑8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Eligible Hedged Items [AASB 139] 
(applicable for annual reporting periods commencing from 1 July 2009). This amendment clarifies how the 
principles that determine whether a hedged risk or portion of cash flows is eligible for designation as a 
hedged item should be applied in particular situations and is not expected to materially affect the company.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on historical 
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future 
events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the company.
Key Estimates ‑ Impairment
The directors assess impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the company that 
may lead to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is determined. Value-in-use calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number 
of key estimates.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

2. Revenue
  2009 2008 
  $000 $000

Operating Activities  1,992 1,868

Interest  226 406

Total Revenue  2,218 2,274

3. Profit for the Year
(a) Consulting Fees

Consulting fees include fees paid to assist with the  
application for the AusIndustry Commercial Ready Grant,  
international market research, scientific and  
professional consulting.  27 177

(b) Employee Benefits Expense

The employee benefits expense includes Director’s fees  
payable in accordance with the prospectus and salaries  
and wages, including executive bonuses.  1,038 967

(c) Other Expenses

Auditors’ remuneration(1)  22 22

Rent  32 30

Travel and accommodation  118 153

Others  158 193

  330 398

Note(1) The auditor did not provide any non-audit services to the company during the year.

(d) Significant Revenue and Expenses

The following significant revenue and expense items  
are relevant in explaining the financial performance:

Milestone payment received from bioMérieux  1,776 1,690

Royalty income  158 0
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4. Revenue
  2009 2008 
  $000 $000

(a) The components of tax expense comprise:

Current tax  (464) (1,905)

Deferred tax  387 1,408

  (77) (497)

(b) The prima facie tax on losses before income  
 tax is reconciled to the income tax as follows:

Prima facie tax payable on losses from  
before income tax at 30%  78 67

Add:

Tax effect of:

Non deductible amortisation  3 3

2008 R&D concession claim  0 (556)

2009 R&D deduction refund  (104) -

Capital raising costs  (82) (82)

Other non-allowable items  28 71

Income tax attribute to the company  (77) (497)

The applicable weighted average effective tax  
rates are as follows:   N/A N/A

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at Bank  3,214 3,942

Reconciliation of Cash 
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown  
in the cash flow statement is reconciled to items  
in the balance sheet.

6. Trade and Other Receivables
Current

Trade Debtors  158 153

Other Receivables  33 36

GST Refundable  18 292

Total Receivables  209 481

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

7. Plant and Equipment
  2009 2008 
  $000 $000

Plant and Equipment at Cost  35 20

Less: Accumulated Depreciation  (15) (8)

Total Plant and Equipment  20 12

Movements in Carrying Amount 
Movements in carrying amounts of plant and equipment  
between the beginning and the end of the financial year  
were as follows:

Opening balance  12 8

Additions  15 9

Depreciation expense  (7) (5)

  20 12

8. Intangible Assets
MicroStreak® Option Fee at Cost  51 51

Less: Accumulated Amortisation (Note 1 (c))  (17) (14)

  34 37

MicroStreak® Licence Fee at Cost  120 120

Less: Accumulated Amortisation (Note 1 (c))  (36) (28)

  84 92

Patent fees  247 247

Less: Accumulated Amortisation (Note 1 (c))  (30) (17)

  217 230

MicroStreak® Development Costs  12,027 11,109

Less: Accumulated Amortisation  (10) 0

  12,017 11,109

Total Intangible Asset  12,352 11,468



LABTECH SYSTEMS LTD ANNUAL REPORT 200938 LABTECH SYSTEMS LTD ANNUAL REPORT 2009 39

8. Intangible Assets cont.
Movements in Carrying Amount 
Movements in carrying amounts of intangibles between the  
beginning and the end of the financial year were as follows:

MicroStreak®  
Option Fee  

at Cost  
$’000

MicroStreak® 
Licence Fee  

at Cost  
$’000

Patent  
fees  

$’000

MicroStreak® 
development  

costs  
$’000

Total  
Intangible  

Asset  
$’000

Balance 1 July 2007 41 100 105 5,566 5,812

Additions 0 0 136 5,543 5,679

Amortisation Charge (4) (8) (11) 0 (23)

Balance 30 June 2008 37 92 230 11,109 11,468

Additions 0 0 0 918 918

Amortisation Charge (3) (8) (13) (10) (34)

Balance 30 June 2009 34 84 217 12,017 12,352

9. Trade and Other Payables
  2009 2008 
  $000 $000

Current

Trade Creditors  417 875

Total Trade and other Payables  417 875

10. Financial Liabilities
(a) Current

Deferred Revenue  13 9

Total Current Financial Liabilities  13 9

(b) Non‑current

Deferred Revenue  2,496 2,503

Total Non-Current Financial Liabilities  2,496 2,503

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

11. Issued Capital
  2009 2008 
  $000 $000

Issued and paid up capital

99,374,861 (2008: 99,374,861) ordinary shares fully paid  12,953 12,953

Less: costs associated with capital raising

Opening balance  (1,449) (1,149)

Amount incurred during year (net of tax)  (92) (300)

  11,412 11,504

  No. No.

Ordinary shares  

At the beginning of the reporting period  99,374,861 99,316,528

Conversion of options  0 58,333

At reporting date  99,374,861 99,374,861

Voting Rights
The Voting rights attached to each class of equity security are as follows:
Ordinary Shares
Each ordinary share is entitled to 1 vote when a poll is called otherwise each member present at a meeting or by 
proxy has a vote on a show of hands.
Option holders
Each option entitles the holders to subscribe for 1 ordinary share in the capital of the company with the 
exception of Class A and Class B options which are subject to a 2 for 3 bonus issue on conversion. Options do 
not have voting rights attached however ordinary shares issued on conversion carry the same voting rights as 
described above.
Capital Management
Management controls the capital of the company in order to ensure that the company can fund its operations 
and continue as a going concern.
The company’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by 
financial assets.
There are no externally imposed capital requirements.
Management effectively manages the company’s capital by assessing the company’s financial risks and 
adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include 
the management of debt levels and share issues.
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the company since 
the prior year.
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12. Reserve
  2009 2008 
  $000 $000

Option Reserve

Option reserve of valuation of share options  764 658

The option reserve records items recognised as  
expenses on valuation of issued share options

13. Cash Flow Information
Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations  
with Profit after Income Tax

Profit after income tax  337 722

Non-cash flows in loss

Amortisation  34 24

Depreciation  7 5

(Increase) in receivables  272 (246)

Increase in deferred revenue  (3) 1,098

(Increase) in deferred tax asset  (312) (2,096)

(Decrease) / Increase in trade creditors  50 (137)

Non-cash options expense  106 103

Increase in deferred tax liability  314 1,598

Cash flow from / (used in) operations  805 1,071

14. Earnings Per Share
Reconciliation of Earnings to Net Profit

Net Profit  337 722

Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share  337 722

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share  337 722

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding  
at 30 June 2009 used in the calculation of basic earnings  
per share  99,374,861 99,244,138

Weighted average number of options outstanding  37,943,818 35,724,160

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding  
at 30 June 2009 used in the calculation of diluted earnings  
per share  137,318,679 134,968,298

Since reporting date the company has not issued shares (2008: Nil) and options (2008: Nil) which would  
have impacted on the number of ordinary shares if these transactions had occurred before the end of the 
reporting period.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

15. Tax
  2009 2008 
  $000 $000

(a) Assets

Deferred tax assets comprise:

Future income tax benefits attributable to tax losses  3160 2,725

Accruals  4 4

Leave entitlements  9 6

Assessable deferred accounting income  753 753

Capital raising costs  115 194

Depreciation  1 0

  4042 3,682

(b) Liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities comprise

Capitalised development expenditure  3,605 3,290

Other  68 22

  3,673 3,312

(c) Reconciliations

i Gross Movements

The overall movement in the deferred tax account  
is as follows:

Opening balance  370 (46)

Credit / (charge) to income statement  77 498

Credit / (charge) to equity  (78) (82)

Closing balance  369 370

ii Deferred Tax Assets

The movement in deferred tax assets for each  
temporary difference during the year is as follows:

Carried forward income losses

Opening balance  2,725 908

Credit to the income statement  435 1,817

Closing balance  3,160 2,725

 Intangible asset amortization

Opening balance  0 9

Credit to the income statement  0 (9)

Closing balance  0 0

 Non‑deductable accrued expenses

Opening balance  4 3

Credit to the income statement  0 1

Closing balance  4 4
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15. Tax cont.
  2009 2008 
  $000 $000

ii Deferred Tax Assets cont.

 Provision for annual leave

Opening balance  6 4

Credit to the income statement  3 2

Closing balance  9 6

 Deferred income

Opening balance  753 424

Credit to the income statement  0 329

Closing balance  753 753

 Capital raising costs

Opening balance  194 276

Credit to equity  (79) (82)

Closing balance  115 194

iii Deferred tax liabilities Capitalised development expenditure

Opening balance  3,290 1,670

Charged to income statement  315 1,620

Closing balance  3,605 3,290

 Other

Opening balance  22 1

Charged to income statement  46 21

Closing balance  68 22

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

16. Related Party Transactions
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than 
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
(a) Names and positions of key management personnel of LabTech Systems in office at any time during the 

financial year:
Directors
Mr R A Finder Independent Chairman – Non-executive
Mr D P LeMessurier Director – Non-executive
Mrs L H Guthrie Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
Mr P A Mariani Independent Director – Non-executive
Mrs C M Costello Independent Director – Non-executive
Mr S P Mathwin Independent Director – Non-executive
Key management personnel remuneration has been included in the remuneration section of the 
Directors’ Report.

(b) Option Holdings

2009

Directors Balance 
01/07/08

Granted as 
Remuneration

Options 
Exercised

Other  
Change

Balance 
30/06/09

Total  
Vested 

30/06/09

Total  
Exercisable 

30/06/09

Total 
Unexercisable 

30/06/09

Mr R A  
Finder 750,000 0 0 0 750,000 0 0 750,000

Mr D P 
LeMessurier 2,965,000 0 0 0 2,965,000 2,965,000 2,965,000 0

Mrs L H 
Guthrie 1,375,000 0 0 0 1,375,000 1,375,000 1,375,000 0

Mr P A 
Mariani(1) 250,000 0 0 (250,000) 0 0 0 0

Mrs C M 
Costello 1,000,000 0 0 0 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 0

Mr S P 
Mathwin 650,000 0 0 0 650,000 650,000 650,000 0

6,990,000 0 0 (250,000) 6,740,000 5,990,000 5,990,000 750,000

Note(1) Mr Mariani passed away on 16 November 2008

2008

Directors Balance 
01/07/07

Granted as 
Remuneration

Options 
Exercised

Other  
Change

Balance 
30/06/08

Total  
Vested 

30/06/08

Total  
Exercisable 

30/06/08

Total 
Unexercisable 

30/06/08

Mr R A  
Finder 0 750,000 0 0 750,000 0 0 750,000

Mr D P 
LeMessurier 3,465,000 0 0 (500,000) 2,965,000 2,715,000 0 2,965,000 

Mrs L H 
Guthrie 1,375,000 0 0 0 1,375,000 1,375,000 0 1,375,000

Mr P A  
Mariani 250,000 0 0 0 250,000 250,000 0 250,000

Mrs C M 
Costello 1,000,000 0 0 0 1,000,000 750,000 0 250,000

Mr S P 
Mathwin 650,000 0 0 0 650,000 150,000 150,000 500,000

6,740,000 750,000 0 (500,000) 6,990,000 5,240,000 150,000 6,090,000
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16. Related Party Transactions cont.
(c) Shareholdings

2009

Directors Balance  
01/07/08

Received as 
Remuneration

Options  
Exercised

Net Change  
Other(1,2)

Balance  
30/06/09

Mr R A Finder 250,000 0 0 0 250,000

Mr D P LeMessurier 8,950,869 0 0 (214,230) 8,736,639

Mrs L H Guthrie 4,583,334 0 0 180,000 4,763,334

Mr P A Mariani 833,334 0 0 (833,334) 0

Mrs C M Costello 0 0 0 0 0

Mr S P Mathwin 1,013,000 0 0 137,000 1,150,000

Total 15,630,537 0 0 (730,564) 14,899,973

2008

Directors Balance  
01/07/07

Received as 
Remuneration

Options  
Exercised

Net Change  
Other(1)

Balance  
30/06/08

Mr R A Finder 0 0 0 250,000 250,000

Mr D P LeMessurier 10,883,336 0 0 (1,932,467) 8,950,869

Mrs L H Guthrie 4,583,334 0 0 0 4,583,334

Mr P A Mariani 833,334 0 0 0 833,334

Mrs C M Costello 0 0 0 0 0

Mr S P Mathwin 700,000 0 0 313,000 1,013,000

Total 17,000,004 0 0 (1,369,467) 15,630,537

Note(1,2): Net Change Other includes (1) securities purchased/sold during the year, and (2) Mr Mariani passed away 16 November 2008

(d) Directors Transactions with the Company
D P LeMessurier
An option agreement between Medvet Science Pty Ltd and D P LeMessurier and/or his nominee was entered 
into on 23 December 2003.
The option agreement granted an exclusive worldwide option to enter into good faith negotiations with 
Medvet Science Pty Ltd with a view to it granting an exclusive worldwide sublicence in respect of its 
intellectual property rights in the technology to an invention known as APOMAB®.
The terms and conditions for which this option was granted was that Mr D P LeMessurier having entered into 
the option agreement with Medvet Science Pty Ltd was to pay the non refundable sum of $230,000 (plus GST) 
at the rate of $28,750 (plus GST) per quarter from 1 February 2004 for a period of two years.
On 19 January 2004, D P LeMessurier assigned and transferred all of his rights, title and interest in the 
option and the Agreement to Apotech Pty Ltd (now LabTech Systems).
The consideration for the transfer of the Option and the Agreement was that Apotech Pty Ltd would:
(a)  Grant to D P LeMessurier an overriding royalty of 1.3% in relation to all licence fees and net sales of any 

Apotech product;
(b) Issue D P LeMessurier and/or his nominee 40,000 fully paid ordinary shares and 40,000 share options;
(c) Grant to L H Guthrie an overriding royalty of 0.5% in relation to all licence fees and net sales of any 

Apotech product; and
(d) Issue L H Guthrie and/or her nominee 20,000 fully paid ordinary shares and 20,000 share options.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

16. Related Party Transactions cont.
(d) Directors’ Transactions with the Company cont.

L H Guthrie
As a result of the agreement entered into by Apotech Pty Ltd and D P LeMessurier (option agreement) 
to transfer the granting of an exclusive worldwide sublicence in respect of the Medvet Science Pty Ltd’s 
intellectual property rights in the technology known as APOMAB®, the company agreed that in consideration 
for the transfer of the Option and the Agreement it would grant to L H Guthrie and/or her nominee:

(a) An overriding royalty of 0.5% in relation to all licence fees and net sales of any Apotech product; and
(b) An issue of 20,000 fully paid ordinary shares and 20,000 share options.

On 10 April 2006 D P LeMessurier and L H Guthrie agreed to waive their rights to receive the royalty granted 
under the 19 January 2004 agreement referred to above.

(e) Directors’ Related Entity Transactions with the company
Details of remuneration paid or payable to directors for the year ended 30 June 2009 has been included in 
the Directors’ Report.
LeMessurier Solutions Pty Ltd provided consultancy services during the year. LeMessurier Solutions is a 
company controlled by Hugo LeMessurier. Hugo LeMessurier is a cousin of the director, Douglas Peter 
LeMessurier and was paid $8,606 (2008 $3,456) excluding GST during the year.

(f) Other Related Parties Transactions with the Company
Medvet Science Pty Ltd
Medvet Science Pty Ltd is a shareholder in LabTech Systems, holding 3,333,334 ordinary shares  
(2007 - 3,333,334) and 1,000,000 Class A options with an exercise price of 20 cents expiring 30 June 2012, 
subject to a 2:3 bonus issue on conversion.
Acquisition and Invention of Technology ‑ MicroStreak®

On 1 December 2004, the company entered into a Technology Licence Agreement with Medvet Science 
Pty Ltd under which it has an exclusive worldwide licence to make, use and sell products derived from 
technology now known as MicroStreak®.
In consideration for the MicroStreak® licence, LabTech Systems has paid to Medvet Science Pty Ltd a licence 
fee of $120,000.
LabTech Systems must pay to Medvet Science Pty Ltd a royalty, calculated on LabTech Systems revenues 
related to sales of MicroStreak® applicators, at the following rates:

(a) Australia:
•	 3%	of	LabTech	Systems’	applicator	revenues;

(b) In all other countries:
•	 3%	of	applicator	revenues	for	the	first	three	years	from	the	date	of	first	commercial	sale	in	each	

country; and
•	 7%	of	applicator	revenues	thereafter	for	the	remainder	of	the	term

The royalty referred to above is payable in respect of each quarter, on or before the end of the month 
following the end of each quarter.
Medvet Science Pty Ltd will also receive milestone payments from LabTech Systems within six months of 
reaching the following milestones:

(i) First commercial sale in Australia - $20,000 or 200,000 shares
(ii) First commercial sale in Europe - $50,000 or 400,000 shares
(iii) First commercial sale in the United States of America - $150,000 or 500,000 shares

Payment in cash or either of shares for (i) and (ii) will be at the election of Medvet Science Pty Ltd by 
written notice.
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17. Financial Risk Management
(a) Financial Risk Management Policies

The company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, and accounts receivable and 
payable. The company does not invest in any derivative instruments.
i) Treasury Risk Management

The board meets on a regular basis to analyse financial risk exposure and to evaluate treasury 
management strategies in the context of the most recent economic conditions and forecasts. The board’s 
overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the company in meeting its financial targets, whilst 
minimising potential averse effects on financial performance.
The board has established an investment policy that is reviewed on a regular basis.

ii) Financial Risk Exposures and Management
The main risks the company is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign 
currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is managed with a mixture of fixed and floating rate deposits. At 30 June 2008 approximately 
57% of the company’s cash deposits were fixed.
Foreign currency risk
The company is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies arising from the receipt of milestone and licence 
payments in currencies other than the company measurement currency. At balance date, the company had no 
material exposures to foreign currencies.
Liquidity risk
The company manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate cash deposits 
are maintained.
Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those 
assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.
The board monitors credit risk by actively assessing the rating quality and liquidity of counter parties:

•	 only	banks	and	financial	institutions	with	a	credit	rating	of	‘A’	long	term	(Standard	and	Poors	rating)	are	
used and

•	 all	potential	customers	are	rated	for	credit	worthiness	taking	into	account	their	size,	market	position	and	
financial standing.

The company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables 
under financial instruments entered into by the company. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

17. Financial Risk Management cont.
(b) Financial instrument composition and maturity analysis
The tables below reflect the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a fixed 
period of maturity, as well as management’s expectations of the settlement period for all other financial 
instruments. As such, the amounts may not reconcile to the balance sheet.

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate 
%

Floating 
Interest Rate  

 
 

$ 000

Within 1 
Year  

 
 

$ 000

1 to 5 
Years 

 
 

$ 000

Over 5 
Years 

 
 

$ 000

Non-interest 
Bearing 

 
 

$ 000 

Total 
 
 
 

$ 000

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Financial Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents 3.3 7.5 296 1,692 2,918 2,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,214 3,942

Receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 209 481 209 481

Total Financial 
Assets 296 1,692 2,918 2,250 0 0 0 0 209 481 3,423 4,423

Financial liabilities

Deferred revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,509 2,512 2,509 2,512

Trade and other 
payables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 417 875 417 875

Total Financial 
Liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,926 3,387 2,926 3,387

All trade and sundry payables are expected to be paid within two months of balance date.
(c) Net Fair Values
The net fair values of all assets and liabilities approximate their carrying value.
(d) Sensitivity Analysis
The company has performed a sensitivity analysis to its exposure to interest rate risk at balance date. This 
sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity, which could result from a 
change in these risks.
At 30 June 2009, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other variables 
remaining constant would be as follows:

  2009 2008 
  $000 $000

Change in profit

- increase in interest rate by 2%  54 88

- decrease in interest rate by 2%  (54) (86)

Changes in equity

- increase in interest rate by 2%  54 88

- decrease in interest rate by 2%  (54) (86)
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18. Share-Based Payments
The following share-based payment arrangements existed at 30 June 2009:
At a general meeting of shareholders held on 19 October 2004 the shareholders approved the allotments of 
500,000 options to Mr P Mariani, 750,000 options to Mr D P LeMessurier and 750,000 options to Mrs L Guthrie. 
These options were subject to a reconstruction in 2005 and were reduced by 50%. Following that reconstruction 
these options have an expiry date of 30 June 2012 and an exercise price of $0.20.
At a directors meeting on 19 September 2005 the board agreed to issue Mrs C M Costello 750,000 Class B 
options that may be exercised at any time up until 30 June 2013 with an exercise price of $0.20.
At the general meeting of shareholders on 10 April 2007 it was agreed to issue Stephen Paul Mathwin 500,000 
Class E options that may be exercised from 17 April 2009 up until 17 April 2017 with an exercise price of $0.20.
At the Annual General Meeting held 29 November 2006 it was resolved to issue 250,000 options to Mr D P 
LeMessurier and Mrs C M Costello. These Class F options may be exercised from 25 September 2009 to 24 May 
2017 and have an exercise price of $0.30.
At the Annual General Meeting held 19 November 2007 it was resolved to issue 750,000 options to Mr R A Finder. 
These options have an exercise price of 20 cents and may be exercised from 5 December 2009 to 5 December 
2017. These options were granted on 24 May 2007.
At the annual general meeting of shareholders held 19 November 2007 it was resolved to issue 921,482 options 
to Paradigm Capital Pty Ltd in exchange for services provided. These options have an exercise price of $0.14 and 
an expiry date of 5 December 2012.
1,100,000 Class C options were issued in accordance with the company’s consultancy agreements with 
Willpower Management Pty Ltd and John Glasson. These options have an exercise price of $0.20 and may be 
exercised at any time up until 30 June 2013. 
500,000 Class C options were issued on 29 September 2008 to Jamie Todd Dreckow in recognition of his 
performance of services provided to the company. These options have an exercise price of $0.20 and may be 
exercised at any time up until 30 June 2013.
During 2009, 250,000 share options were granted to employees in accordance with the Employee Share Option 
Plan to take up ordinary shares at an exercise price of $0.165 each. These options are exercisable during the 
period 6 January 2011 to 23 January 2019.

Number of  
Options

Weighted Average  
Exercise Price $

Number of  
Options

Weighted Average  
Exercise Price $

2009 2008

Outstanding at the 
beginning of the year 6,223,851 0.18 3,452,369 0.20

Granted 750,000 0.19 2,771,482 0.18

Forfeited 0 0 0 0

Exercised 0 0 0 0

Expired 0 0 0 0

Outstanding at year end 6,973,851 0.19 6,223,851 0.19

Exercisable at year end 5,973,851 0.19 4,473,851 0.18

The options outstanding at 30 June 2009 had a weighted average exercise price of $0.19 and a weighted average 
remaining contractual life of 4.89 years. Exercise prices range from $0.14 and $0.30.
The weighted average fair value of the options granted during the year was $0.04.
Options issued to directors and employees cannot be exercised until the second anniversary after the grant date. 
Any options held at the date a Director ceases to be an officer automatically lapse within 90 days unless the 
board approves an extension. Accordingly, it is considered that these options do not fully vest until such time as 
they can be exercised. In accordance with AASB2 “Share-based Payment”, the fair value of the options has been 
expensed over the vesting period.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

18. Share-Based Payments cont.
Historical volatility has been the basis for determining expected share price volatility.
The fair value of Class C Options granted during the 2009 financial year has been estimated by reference to 
prices of exchange traded options with similar terms.

19. Segment Reporting
The company will operate in one business and several geographical segments, providing research and 
development of its technology MicroStreak®.

20. Credit Standby Arrangements
The company has a credit standby facility of $35,000. This facility was used to the extent of $26,598 at balance date.

21. Capital, Royalty and Other Fees Commitments
(a) Acquisition of Invention and Technology ‑ MicroStreak®.

Medvet Science Pty Ltd Nature

 Licence fees, milestone payments and royalties payable under  
 a Technology Licence agreement entered into on 1 December 2004.

22. Events After the Balance Sheet Date
The company announced that its Australian Patent had been issued in August 2009.
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Directors’ Declaration

23. Company Details
The registered office and principal place of business of the company is:
Level 2, 153 Flinders Street 
Adelaide SA 5000 
Phone:  +61 8 8227 1555 
Fax:  +61 8 8223 1775 
Website:  www.labtechsystems.com

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2009

In the directors opinion:
(1) the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 27 to 50, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001 and: 

 comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

 give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2009 and of the performance for the year ended on 
that date of the company;

(2) the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director and Chief Finance Officer have each declared that:

 the financial records of the company for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with 
section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001;

 the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards; and

 the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view.

(3) in the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors.

Director 
Lusia Halina Guthrie

Director 
Robert Andrew Finder

Dated at Adelaide this 28th day of September 2009
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Shareholder Information
As at 15 September 2009

Statement of Issued Securities
The total number of shareholders is 936 and there are 99,374,861 ordinary fully paid shares on issue.

The total number of Class A optionholders is 20 and there are 8,045,000 Class A Options on issue.

The total number of Class B optionholders is 66 and there are 6,114,350 Class B Options on issue.

The total number of Class C optionholders is 271 and there are 20,435,000 Class C Options on issue.

The total number of Class D optionholders is 5 and there are 702,369 Class D Options on issue.

The total number of Class E optionholders is 1 and there are 500,000 Class E Options on issue.

The total number of Class F optionholders is 2 and there are 500,000 Class F Options on issue.

Other options 
Expiry date

Number of 
holders

Number on 
issue

5 December 2017 1 750,000

5 December 2012 2 921,482

6 January 2019 1 50,000

23 January 2019 1 200,000

Distribution of Securities

Equity 
Distribution

No of 
Share-
holders

No of  
Class A 
Option-
holders

No of  
Class B 
Option-
holders

No of  
Class C 
Option-
holders

No of  
Class D 
Option-
holders

No of  
Class E 
Option-
holders

No of  
Class F 
Option-
holders

No of 
Option-
holders 

Exp 
5/12/12

No of 
Option-
holders 

Exp 
5/12/17

No of 
Option-
holders 

Exp 
6/1/19

No of 
Option-
holders 

Exp 
23/1/19

1 – 1,000 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1,001 – 5,000 102 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5,001 – 10,000 167 0 5 119 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10,001 – 100,000 498 5 40 121 2 0 0 0 0 1 -

100,001 and over 159 15 20 30 3 1 2 2 1 0 1

936 20 66 271 5 1 2 2 1 1 1

The number of shareholdings held in less than marketable parcels is 62. The number of option holdings held in less 
than a minimum parcel is 4 (3 in B Class) (1 in C Class).

Substantial Shareholders
The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the company’s register as at 15 September 2009 are:

Name Number of 
Shares held

% held of 
Issued Capital

bioMérieux 9,772,727 9.83

Mr Douglas Peter LeMessurier 8,204,439 8.26

17,977,166 18.09%

Voting Rights
Refer to Note 11.

On Market Buy Back
There is no current on market buy back.

Top 20 Shareholders

Rank Name Number of Shares % of Shares

1 bioMérieux SA 9,772,727 9.83

2 Hugh Berkley Guthrie + Lusia Halina Guthrie ** 3,333,334 3.35

3 Medvet Science Pty Ltd 3,333,334 3.35

4 Avanteos Investments Limited <Avanteos NO 1 A/C> 2,965,442 2.98

5 Mrs Diana Mary O’Halloran Evans 2,672,668 2.69

6 Mr Nicholas Greenaway Mills 2,188,818 2.20

7 National Nominees Limited 2,142,857 2.16

8 Mr Douglas Peter LeMessurier * 1,943,334 1.96

9 First Avenue Investments Pty Ltd * 1,666,667 1.68

10 Palpet Pty Ltd * 1,666,667 1.68

11 Kytron Pty Ltd * 1,418,304 1.43

12 Mr Raymond George Pank 1,316,668 1.32

13 Lusia Halina Guthrie ** 1,250,000 1.26

14 Ruin Pty Ltd <Steve Mathwin Super A/C> 1,150,000 1.16

15 College Park Investments Pty Ltd * 1,034,467 1.04

16 B Moran Pty Ltd 1,001,790 1.01

17 Mr Warwick Barnett Bowden <Barnett Bowden Sup Fund A/C> 1,000,000 1,01

18 Medvet Science Pty Ltd 1,000,000 1,01

19 Mutual Trust Pty Ltd 1,000,000 1.01

20 Alcardo Investments Limited <Styled 102501 A/C> 981,024 0.99

42,838,101 43.11%

We confirm these directors show Third Party Holdings  
* Mr Douglas Peter LeMessurier ** Mrs Lusia Halina Guthrie
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Shareholder Information
As at 15 September 2009

Top 20 Class A Option-holders (not listed)

Rank Name Number of Options % of Options

1 Guthrie, Hugh Berkley & Guthrie, Lusia Halina 1,000,000 12.43

2 Medvet Science Pty Ltd 1,000,000 12.43

3 Evans, Diana Mary O’Halloran 895,000 11.12

4 LeMessurier, Douglas Peter 625,000 7.77

5 Kytron Pty Ltd 590,000 7.33

6 College Park Investments Pty Ltd 500,000 6.22

7 First Avenue Investments Pty Ltd 500,000 6.22

8 Palpet Pty Ltd 500,000 6.22

9 SDP Technology Ltd 500,000 6.22

10 Guthrie, Lusia Halina 375,000 4.66

11 Pank, Raymond George 375,000 4.66

12 LeMessurier, Jane Mary 250,000 3.11

13 Paul Mariani & Kerrie Anne Mariani <Paul Mariani Superfund A/C> 250,000 3.11

14 Emu Cards Pty Ltd 225,000 2.80

15 FOA Pty Ltd <Adrian Porter Family A/c> 175,000 2.18

16 Porter, Adrian & Porter, Toby Robert <Adrian Porter Super Fund A/c> 100,000 1.24

17 Blenkinsop, Karen Joy 75,000 0.93

18 Grogan, Bryan Davy & Grogan, Deanna Amy <Super Fund A/c> 50,000 0.62

19 Kate Barnett Pty Ltd <Kate Barnett Super Fund A/c> 40,000 0.50

20 Adamson, John MacFarlane & Adamson, Sally Lytton 20,000 0.25

8,045,000 100.00%

Top 20 Class B Option-holders

Rank Name Number of Options % of Options

1 Costello Consulting Pty Ltd 750,000 12.27

2 Gazump	Resources	Pty	Ltd 450,000 7.36

3 HH Sutton Nominees Pty Ltd 343,125 5.61

4 Martin Place Securities Pty Ltd 343,125 5.61

5 Mr James Wilson Wannan 270,000 4.42

6 Mr John Cook 219,000 3.58

7 Capereef Pty Ltd 206,250 3.37

8 Avanteos Investments Limited <Avanteos No 1 A/C> 200,000 3.27

9 Mrs Diana Mary O’Halloran Evans 163,750 2.68

10 Super 1136 Pty Ltd 145,000 2.37

11 Mr Nicholas Ernst Bury 140,000 2.29

12 Mrs Marjorie Gertrude Beasley 115,000 1.88

13 Australian Structured Finance & + Investment Services Pty Ltd 
<The ASFIS Super Fund A/C> 112,500 1.84

14 Australorp Superannuation Fund 112,500 1.84

15 Marijke Sara Newnham 112,500 1.84

16 Mr Ian John Breedon 105,000 1.72

17 Indigold Pty Ltd 105,000 1.72

18 Mrs Patricia Ann Pank 105,000 1.72

19 Dr Adrian Porter + Mr Toby Robert Porter  
<Adrian Porter Super Fund A/C> 105,000 1.72

20 Jax Tyres <Executive Super Fund A/C> 105,000 1.72

4,207,750 68.82%
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Shareholder Information
As at 15 September 2009

Top 20 Class C Option-holders

Rank Name Number of Options % of Options

1 Alcardo Investments Limited <Styled 102501 A/C> 2,750,000 13.46

2 Tuxedo Investments Pty Ltd 2,115,080 10.35

3 Gazump	Resources	Pty	Ltd 1,415,500 6.93

4 WHI Securities Pty Ltd <Crown Credit Corporation A/C> 800,000 3.91

5 Mr John Hughes Glasson + Mrs Irene Joan Glasson <The Glasson 
Superfund A/C> 550,000 2.69

6 Willpower Management Pty Ltd 550,000 2.69

7 Super 1136 Pty Ltd 510,000 2.50

8 Ms Rachel Anne Dreckow 500,000 2.45

9 Mr Robert John James + Mrs Carolyn Ann James <James Family A/ C> 500,000 2.45

10 Mr	Gary	Samuel	Kurzer	+	Ms	Virginia	Bella	Aghan 500,000 2.45

11 Alectown Pty Ltd 450,000 2.20

12 Perpetual Custodians Limited 395,000 1.93

13 Mr Nicholas Ernest Bury <The Bury Family Account> 300,000 1.47

14 Dr Marcus Andrew Stoodley 300,000 1.47

15 Mr Connor William Kneale McNeice 260,000 1.27

16 R Elliott & Associates Pty Ltd <T J Creasy Super Fund A/C> 250,000 1.22

17 Martin Place Securities Staff Superannuation fund Pty Ltd 245,000 1.20

18 B Moran Pty Ltd 205,000 1.00

19 Goldsword Holdings Pty Ltd <Monk Superfund A/C> 200,000 0.98

20 JFB Services Pty Limited 200,000 0.98

12,995,580 63.59%

Top 20 Class D Option-holders (not listed)

1 Mr Michael Abela 200,000 28.48

2 Micjud Pty Ltd <Chester Family Fund A/C> 151,185 21.53

3 Ricketts Point Investments Pty Ltd <Dickson family A/C> 151,184 21.52

4 Mr Jason Chester 100,000 14.24

5 Mr Andrew Ronald MacKinnon 100,000 14.24

702,369 100%

Top 20 Class E Option-holders (not listed)

Rank Name Number of Options % of Options

1 Mr Stephen Mathwin 500,000 100.00

500,000 100.00%

Top 20 Class F Option-holders (not listed)

1 Ms Catherine Mary Costello 250,000 50.00%

2 Mr Douglas Peter LeMessurier 250,000 50.00%

500,000 100.00%

Top 20 Other Option-holders (not listed)

1 Mr Robert Finder (option expire 5/12/17 – ex price $0.20) 750,000 39.03

2 Mr Michael Abela (option expire 5/12/12 – ex price $0.14) 460,741 23.98

3 Paradigm Capital Pty Ltd (option expire 5/12/12 – ex price $0.14) 460,741 23.98

4 Mr Graeme Cross (Option expires 23/1/19 – ex price $0.165) 200,000 10.41

5 Ms Deborah Nutt (Option expires 06/1/19 – ex price $0.165) 50,000 2.60

1,921,482 100%

Register of Securities
The register of securities is located at:
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 
GPO Box 1903 Adelaide, South Australia 5001, Australia

Enquiries (within Australia) 1300 729 063 
Enquiries (outside Australia) +61 3 9415 4675 
Facsimile +61 8 8236 2305 
web.queries@computershare.com.au 
www.computershare.com.au
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